1992 NG CLERK ME COURT SUPRE By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE FRANK HALE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 80,242

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER FLORIDA BAR #197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER (On the Brief) FLORIDA BAR #664261

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. A two volume record on appeal, including transcripts, will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Attached hereto as Appendix A is the decision of the lower tribunal. Appendix B is petitioner's motion for rehearing. Appendix C is the order denying rehearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By amended information filed May 8, 1991, petitioner was charged with sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine with intent to sell (R 134). The cause proceeded to jury trial on June 6, 1991, and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty as charged on both counts (R 135).

Narcotics investigator Tommy Roberts testified that on February 14, 1991, he met with confidential informant Douglas McCants. They planned to make cocaine buys in the area of Clemmies bar. McCants was given a body transmitter. The undercover police car contained a small video camera and a VCR. He gave McCants \$20.00, and McCants went to the bar and met up with a subject. McCants returned to the meeting place and gave Roberts a piece of suspected cocaine. The cocaine and the video tape were entered into evidence without objection (R 33-42).

Petitioner was arrested later on, and his photo was entered into evidence over objection. A photo of the drug transaction taken off of the video tape was also entered into evidence without objection (R 34-50).

Douglas Quinton McCants testified that he was working for the sheriff's department. He bought a piece of rock cocaine from petitioner for \$20.00 (R 60-68).

FDLE chemist Jeffrey Allen Gayer testified that he tested the substance and it proved to be cocaine (R 75-78). The video tape was played for the jury (R 81-82). The stated rested (R

83), and petitioner's motion for acquittal was denied (R 83-85;95).

After a charge conference (R 88-94), final arguments (R 98-113), and jury instructions (R 113-24), the jury returned its verdict after one hour of deliberation (R 129). The state filed its notice of intent to seek habitual violent offender treatment (R 141).

At sentencing, the state asserted that petitioner had been convicted of aggravated assault in 1989, as well as other felonies in the past, and the prior judgments (R 226-37) were entered into evidence without objection (R 201-203). The court found petitioner qualified as an habitual violent offender (R 204).

The sentencing guidelines scoresheet called for a recommended range of 4 1/2 to 5 1/2 years (R 221). Counsel noted that petitioner had been convicted of selling a piece of crack cocaine "about the size of a pea or less," and was not a violent threat to the community (R 204). The court imposed the sentences noted above (R 209), and entered a written order justifying the habitual violent offender sentences (R 223-25).

On appeal, petitioner argued that he could not receive an habitual violent offender sentence for a non-violent crime. In the alternative, petitioner argued it was cruel or unusual punishment to impose a 50 year sentence without parole and with a 20 year minimum mandatory. The lower tribunal held that petitioner could receive an habitual violent offender sentence for a non-violent crime, but certified the same two questions

it had previously certified in <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,715, oral argument set for October 9, 1992:

> 1. DOES IT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN HE IS CLASSIFIED AS A [HABITUAL] VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084, AND THEREBY SUBJECTED TO AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT, IF HE HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN ENUMERATED FELONY WITHIN THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS, EVEN THOUGH HIS PRESENT OFFENSE IS A NONVIOLENT FELONY?

2. DOES SECTION 775.084(1)(B) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISH-MENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF A PRIOR OFFENSE?

Appendix A at 2-3. The lower tribunal also refused to address petitioner's argument that his sentence constituted cruel or unusual punishment. Petitioner's motion for rehearing, which pointed out that the lower tribunal did have to power to address petitioner's claim (Appendix B), was denied on July 14, 1992 (Appendix C).

On July 29, 1992, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The first certified question has been answered by this Court, contrary to petitioner's position.

The habitual violent felon statute permits imposition of an enhanced sentence as a habitual violent felon upon one who has committed but a single violent felony. The fixation on the prior offense, for which an offender has already been punished, also renders the enhanced sentence a violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

In the alternative, petitioner will also argue that the sentence he received constitutes cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishment under the Florida Constitution. This is not the same as cruel <u>and</u> unusual punishment under the federal constitution. The test is different, and focuses upon the penalties for similar crimes in Florida.

The proper remedy under either of these arguments is to vacate the sentence and remand for resentencing under the sentencing guidelines.

Petitioner will also argue in the alternative that he should not have received consecutive mandatory minimum sentences for the two crimes in the same criminal episode under the habitual violent offender statute. This Court recently held such to be illegal, and they must be designated to run concurrently.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I SECTION 775.084(1)(B) VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISH-MENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF A PRIOR OFFENSE.

A. DUE PROCESS

This Court has answered the first certified question contrary to petitioner's position that habitual violent offender sanctions cannot be imposed on one who commits a nonviolent crime. <u>Ross v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), approved, 17 FLW S367 (Fla. June 18, 1992), rehearing denied July 28, 1992.

B. DOUBLE JEOPARDY

The state and federal constitutions both forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const., amend. V, XIV.; Fla. Const., art. I, §9. The First District Court of Appeal has noted that the violent felony provisions of the amended habitual offender statute implicate constitutional protections. <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The fixation of the habitual violent felony provisions on prior offenses renders application of this statute to petitioner a violation of these constitutional protections. This goes to the second of the certified questions.

To punish a defendant as an habitual violent felony offender, the state need only show that he or she has one prior offense within the past five years for a violent felony enumerated within the statute. The current offense need meet no criteria, other than that it be a felony committed within five

years of commission, conviction or conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense. Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: that the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The almost exclusive focus on this prior offense renders use of the statute a second punishment for that offense, violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions. When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the amended habitual offender statute -- not the case here -- the statute's use also violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws.

Habitual offender and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, as long ago as 1948, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence was based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing. <u>See, e.g., Gryger v. Burke</u>, 334 U.S. 728 (1948). There the Court explained:

> The sentence as a fourth offender or habitual criminal is not to be viewed as either a new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier crimes. It is a stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.

Id. at 728. Using the same reasoning, Florida's courts have also rejected challenges based on double jeopardy arguments. <u>See generally, Reynolds v. Cochran</u>, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); <u>Washington v. Mayo</u>, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956); <u>Cross v. State</u>, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928). If the provisions in question were

more concerned with repetition, the inquiry might end here. The only repetition on which this portion of the statute dwells, however, is the repetition of crime, not the repetition of violent crime. Its focus on the character of the prior crime, without regard to the nature of the current offense, distinguishes Florida's habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme from other enhanced sentencing provisions. See <u>Hall v.</u> <u>State</u>, 588 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Zehmer, J., concurring), questions certified by unpublished order dated Dec. 12, 1991, review pending, case no. 79,237:

> I view the imposition of the extent of punishment for the instant [non-violent] criminal offense based on the nature of the prior conviction as effectively imposing a second punishment on defendant solely based on the nature of his prior offense, a practice I had thought was prohibited by the Florida and United States Constitutions. This new statutory procedure is entirely different from the former concept of enhancing sentences of habitual offenders having prior offenses without regard to the nature of the prior felony, which has been upheld in this state and other jurisdictions.

This distinction is the point at which the amended statute runs afoul of constitutional double jeopardy clauses.

The First District Court of Appeal did not meaningfully address this distinction in <u>Tillman</u> or <u>Ross</u>, <u>supra</u>, or in <u>Perkins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,613. In <u>Perkins</u>, the Court rejected the same arguments made here, on the authority of <u>Washington</u>, <u>Cross</u> and <u>Reynolds</u>, concluding that "the reasoning of these cases is equally applicable to this enactment." <u>Id</u>. at 1104. <u>Perkins</u> thus

left unaddressed the constitutional implications identified by Judge Zehmer in <u>Hall</u>, <u>supra</u>.

As this Court correctly stated in Ross, supra:

The entire focus of the statute is not on the present offense, but on the criminal offender's prior record.

17 FLW at S368.

The Florida provisions at issue focus not on any specific offense pending for sentencing, but on the character of a prior offense for classification purposes. Consequently, an offender subjected to the operation of Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is being punished more for the prior offense than for the current one. In effect, as noted by Judge Zehmer in <u>Hall</u>, this then is a second punishment for the prior offense, barred by the state and federal constitutions.

For these reasons, petitioner's sentence must be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing without resort to the habitual violent felon provisions. The statute violates constitutional double jeopardy provisions. In such case, the second certified questions should be answered in the affirmative. Retroactive application would require resentencing of a relatively small portion of those sentenced as habitual offenders since the 1988 amendment.

ISSUE II

THE IMPOSITION OF 50 YEARS OF HABITUAL VIOLENT OFFENDER SENTENCE WITH NO PAROLE FOR 20 YEARS CONSTITUTES CRUEL OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. INTRODUCTION

The sentence of 50 years without parole for 20 years for the instant offenses of sale and possession of a pea-sized piece of cocaine violates the prohibition of cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishments contained in article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution. No claim is made here that the sentence violates the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, as the lower tribunal seemed to believe. The argument that follows turns in large part on the distinction between the Florida Constitution, which contains the disjunctive "or," and the federal constitutional provision, which, phrased in the conjunctive, prohibits cruel <u>and</u> unusual punishments.

The Bill of Rights, or first 10 amendments to the United States Constitution, was adopted in 1791. Florida adopted its first territorial constitution in 1838. Significantly, only 47 years after its federal counterpart, the Declaration of Rights contained in the 1838 constitution prohibited "cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishments," art. I, §12, Fla. Const. (1838), and the phrase has survived several major constitutional revisions, including the most recent in 1968. Art. I, §17, Fla. Const. (1968).

A cursory reading of the first state constitution shows that the framers used the federal Bill of Rights and English common law as a guide for the Declaration of Rights, yet they chose to include the disjunctive "or" and not the conjunctive "and" in

prohibiting excessive punishments. Although petitioner has been unable to find an express statement of legislative intent in the archival evidence available from the 1838, 1861, 1865, 1885 and 1968 conventions, one must assume from the available evidence that the phrasing of the Florida provision is no accident.¹ Thus, courts should give effect to the difference in the phrasing.

This Court recently noted the disjunctive "or" in article I, section 17, and observed that it indicates that alternatives were intended. Tillman v. State, 591 So.2d 167, 169, n.2 (Fla. 1991).

This Court has the duty to evaluate the constitutionality of the habitual violent offender statute and petitioner's resulting sentence under the state constitution:

> The separation of powers doctrine requires that the judiciary bear the responsibility of determining the constitutionality of legislation. Simply yielding to legislative discretion is tantamount to a breach of this judicial duty. Accordingly, judicial review has been recognized as necessary to resolve issues concerning the proportionality of sentencing legislation. As one member of the Supreme Court stated: "[J]udicial enforcement of the [cruel and unusual punishments] clause ... cannot be evaded by invoking the obvious truth that legislatures have the power to prescribe punishment for crimes." Furman v Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 269 (1972) (Brennan, J., concurring).

¹One scholar has concluded that both the 1838 (territorial) and 1885 (post-Reconstruction) Florida Constitutions were modeled from those in the state of Alabama. D'Alemberte, <u>The Florida State Constitution - A Reference Guide</u> (1991), at 4 and 8.

Casenote, 17 <u>U. Balt. L. Rev.</u> 572 (1988), discussing <u>State v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 530 A.2d 1223 (Md. Ct. App. 1987). See also the cases cited in petitioner's motion for rehearing below (Appendix B).

B. FEDERAL VERSUS STATE CONSTITUTIONS

In a section of his opinion in Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. , 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991) (on which he was joined only by the Chief Justice), Justice Scalia suggested that state constitutional provisions forbidding "cruel or unusual punishment," like those forbidding "cruel and unusual punishment," were not interpreted in the 19th century to prohibit disproportionate punishments. However, a plurality of four justices adhered to at least a semblance of proportionality analysis under the Eighth Amendment in Harmelin. Too, constitutional interpretation is not frozen in time, either by the divined intent of the drafters or early judicial opinion. The genius of a well-drafted constitution is in its ability to evolve. Cf. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 353 (1967) (electronic device used to record telephone conversations need not physically penetrate a wall to constitute a search and seizure). Finally, a state bill of rights becomes a repository for empty platitudes if its provisions are interpreted in lockstep precision with a correlating provision of the federal Bill of Rights.

Via constitutional amendment, Florida has surrendered its courts' power to provide an interpretation of article I, section 12 (1982 amend.) of the state constitution independently of U.S. Supreme Court interpretation of the Fourth Amendment. <u>State v.</u>

<u>Jimeno</u>, 588 So.2d 233 (Fla. 1991). In the absence of a constitutional amendment restricting the remaining provisions of the Declaration of Rights to the prevailing Supreme Court interpretation of the Bill of Rights, these provisions remain independently viable. Augmenting these principles is the fact, explored above, that section 17 is worded differently from the Eighth Amendment in terms giving greater protection to individuals. This Court should hew to that wording.

In <u>State v. Lavazzoli</u>, 434 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983), this Court noted that in construing our former constitutional exclusionary rule, "the courts of this state were free to provide its citizens with a higher standard of protection from governmental intrusion than that afforded by the federal constitution."

In <u>State v. Kinchen</u>, 490 So.2d 21, 23 (Fla. 1985), former Justice Ehrlich noted:

> We are not bound by the federal court's construction of the federal constitution in interpreting analogous provisions of our organically separate state constitution, nor are we precluded from providing greater safeguards for individual liberties than those required by the federal constitution.

See also his concurring opinion in <u>Shaktman v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 148, 153 (Fla. 1989).

Likewise, in <u>Rose v. Dugger</u>, 508 So.2d 321, 322 (Fla. 1987), this Court noted:

> We recognize that this Court has the power and authority to construe our Florida Constitution in a manner which may differ from the manner in which the United States

Supreme Court has construed a similar provision in the federal constitution.

Likewise, in In re T.W., 551 So.2d 1186, 1191 (Fla. 1989),

this Court noted:

While the federal constitution traditionally shields enumerated and implied individual liberties from encroachment by state or federal government, the federal court has long held that state constitutions may provide even greater protection. See, e.g., Pruneguard Shopping Center v. Robins, 447 U.S. 74, 81, 100 S.Ct. 2035, 2040, 64 L.Ed.2d 741 (1980) ("Our reasoning ... does not ex proprio vigore limit the authority of the State to exercise its police power or its sovereign right to adopt in its own Constitution individual liberties more expansive than those conferred by the Federal Constitution.").

> State constitutions, too, are a font of individual liberties, their protections often extending beyond those required by the Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. The legal revolution which has brought federal law to the fore must not be allowed to inhibit the independent protective force of state law -- for without it, the full realization of our liberties cannot be guaranteed.

W. Brennan, State Constitutions and the Protection of Individual Rights, 90 Harv. L. Rev. 489, 491 (1977).

Moreover, this Court has recently indicated that our Declaration of Rights operates independently of the federal Bill of Rights and may provide our citizens with greater protection. Traylor v. State, 17 FLW S42 (Fla. Jan. 16, 1992).

"Cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishment" differs from "cruel <u>and</u> unusual punishment." Justice Scalia noted the distinction in Harmelin, 115 L.Ed.2d at 864 ("Severe mandatory penalties may be cruel, but they are not unusual in the constitutional sense") Justice Scalia also noted an 1892 South Dakota decision interpreting a provision of that state's constitution which forbade merely cruel punishments as authorizing proportionality review. In Florida, the constitution forbids punishments that are either cruel or unusual.

As stated in Rubin, <u>Law of Criminal Correction</u> at 423 (2d ed. 1973) (footnotes omitted):

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