Dal

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

AUG 27 1992

CHERK, SUFREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIE FRANK HALE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,242

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

# Issue I: Constitutionality of Habitual Felon Statute

Neither of the grounds raised by Petitioner were preserved for review. He first claims the habitual violent felon statute violates due process, when applied to a defendant - like himself - whose present offense is not violent. No such challenge was made before the trial court. Similarly, no challenge was made to the application of the statute on double jeopardy grounds. This issue is not preserved.

If lack of preservation has been waived by the State's failure to argue such before the First District, then Petitioner is wrong on the merits. As this Court recently held, it is completely reasonable to increase a qualifying defendant's present punishment based on his criminal history. The statue does not violate due process. Moreover, since only the present sentence is enhanced, Petitioner's right against double jeopardy is not violated.

## Issue II: Proportionality of Petitioner's Sentence

Petitioner received two sentences of 25 years, each with a minimum mandatory of 10 years, to run consecutively. Based on these facts, he attacks his sentence as disproportionately long, and thus cruel or unusual. This tactic is unavoidably a challenge to the habitual felon statute as applied. It was not raised before the trial court and is not preserved.

- 2 -

The State (predecessor counsel) did not argue lack of preservation before the First District. If this constitutes waiver, then Petitioner would be allowed to seek a radical re-interpretation of a provision of the Florida Constitution on grounds never argued before the trial court. Such sandbagging of the trial court is disproportionate to the State's oversight on appeal to the First District.

Petitioner does not, and cannot, cite any decisions by this Court which attribute different substance to the Florida Constitution's prohibition of punishment that is "cruel or unusual," as opposed to the U.S. Constitution's ban on punishment that is "cruel and unusual." However, this is not the real issue. Assuming the state constitutional provision forbids punishment that is merely cruel, that prohibition extends only to the type of punishment authorized by statute. Since Petitioner's sentence of imprisonment is obviously the authorized form of punishment, and its length is within that authorized by statute, he is not entitled to relief.

Ultimately, the interpretation of "cruel or unusual" urged by Petitioner would require proportionality review of all non-death sentences departing from the guidelines or imposed under the habitual felon statute. Such review is not authorized by the state constitution. Petitioner's argument must be rejected.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER INCREASING THE PUNISHMENT FOR A DEFENDANT'S CURRENT OFFENSE ONLY, BASED ON HIS CRIMINAL PAST, VIOLATES THE DOUBLE-JEOPARDY BAR AGAINST MULTIPLE PUNISHMENTS FOR THE SAME CRIME.

## A. Due Process

Correctly and candidly, Petitioner notes that his due process argument was specifically rejected by this Court in Ross v. State, 17 F.L.W. S367 (Fla. June 18, 1992), rehearing denied July 28, 1992. The State relies on Ross.

# B. Double Jeopardy

Ross also sounds the death knell for Petitioner's double jeopardy argument. While acknowledging that the habitual felon statute focuses on the criminal offender's prior record, Ross also declared that the State was "entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty." [e.s.] Id.

As this Court just recognized, the habitual violent felon statute enhances only the <u>present</u> felony. Consequently, it is simply impossible for such a felon to be punished twice for the <u>past</u> offense. There is no need to go further to deny relief.

Petitioner's argument begins with the observation that the "current offense need meet no criteria, other than

it be a felony committed within five years ... [of] the prior 'violent' offense." (initial brief, p. 6-7). That observation shows exactly why the statute is constitutional and reasonable, as it requires a recent conviction for a felony that is violent. Twice convicted for aggravated assault and for other offenses (R 223-5), Petitioner sold a small part of a larger quantity of crack cocaine to an undercover informant. (R 64).

Petitioner repeatedly committed felonies; some in the past were violent. Focusing on the nature and recency of his criminal record, the habitual felon statute reasonably treats Petitioner more harshly by authorizing lengthier imprisonment and a mandatory minimum. 1

Nevertheless, Petitioner's argument is based on the third protection provided by the double jeopardy clause, the prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. See, e.g., United States v. Di Francesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. 426, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980). It is obvious that Petitioner's two current offenses, and his earlier aggravated assaults, are separate because they are separate in time. Hence, the double jeopardy clause would be violated here only if the current

Petitioner's more serious current offense, sale of cocaine, is a second degree felony under §893.13(1)(a)1; which carries a maximum sentence of 30 years under §775.084(4)(b)2, with a 10 year minimum.

punishment were imposed for those assaults, rather than for the current convictions. The record is clear, however, that Petitioner was sentenced by the trial court in the instant case for his 1991 crime, and that his prior punishments for the 1988 and 1985 assaults were not altered in any way. (R 216-25). Consequently, no double jeopardy violation exists.

If this Court were to give credence to Petitioner's claim, it would have to reject all cases which define the scope of the double jeopardy clause. Moreover, this Court would be required to invalidate the sentencing guidelines and the capital sentencing procedures, both of which aggravate a defendant's current sentence based on the nature and seriousness of prior offenses.

Such extreme action is not necessary. As this Court aptly stated in <a href="Cross v. State">Cross v. State</a>, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380, 386 (Fla. 1928):

"The propriety of inflicting severer punishment upon old offenders has long been recognized in this Country and in England. are not punished the second time for the earlier offense, but the repetition of criminal conduct aggravates their guilt and justifies heavier penalties when they are again convicted." As was said in People v. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113, 17 Am.Rep. 401: "The punishment for the second [offense] increased, is because by persistence in the perpetration of crime he [the defendant] has evinced a depravity, which merits a greater punishment, and needs to be restrained by severer penalties than if it were his first And as was said by Chief Justice Parker in Ross' Case, 2 Pick. (Mass.) 165: punishment is for the last offense committed, and it is rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself." The statute does not make it or crime for one to have offense convicted more than once. The law simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior taken convictions in connection with the subsequent offense demonstrates the incorrigible dangerous character of accused thereby enhanced establishing the necessity for restraint. The imposition of such enhanced punishment is not a prosecution of or punishment The Constitution for the former convictions. forbids such action. The enhanced punishment is an incident to the last offense alone. that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (quoting Graham v. West Virginia, 224 U.S. 616 (1912) (citation omitted). See also, Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 1956); Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); Conley v. State, case no. 90-1745 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 2, 1992); and Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (again rejecting the same argument raised here by petitioner).

As is evident from the above sampling of cases:

[Recidivist] statutes are neither new to Florida nor to modern jurisprudence. Recidivist legislation . . . has repeatedly withstood attacks that it violates constitutional rights against ex post facto laws, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, denies defendants equal protection of the law, violates due process or involves double jeopardy.

Reynolds, 138 So.2d at 502-3.

Petitioner's argument ignores other significant facts relating to habitual offender sentencing in Florida. example, the 1988 changes to the habitual offender statute actually narrowed the pool of defendants who could be classified as habitual offenders. Under the statutory scheme approved in Reynolds and in effect until October of 1988, any defendant with one prior felony of any type was subject to habitualization. Since this Court has previously determined that the Legislature may constitutionally enhance the sentences of all defendants based on the commission of one prior felony of any kind, the Court must likewise hold that the Legislature has the authority to enhance the sentences of defendants who commit the most serious offenses based on the commission of one prior violent felonv. Further, because the Legislature can, without violating the double jeopardy clause, distinguish between the nature of an offense (felony vs. misdemeanor) in determining the number of offenses required to habitualize, it certainly can distinguish between violent and nonviolent felons in determining how may prior offenses will subject a defendant to habitualization. Accordingly, §775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), does not violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy, and Petitioner's argument to the contrary must fail.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTIONAL BAN UPON CRUEL OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT APPLIES TO INDIVIDUAL SENTENCES AUTHORIZED BY STATUTE.

Petitioner, a repeatedly violent felon who sells drugs, seeks an historically incorrect interpretation of a state constitutional provision based on a non-preserved issue. Therefore, the State's answer will be in two parts: preservation and response on the merits.

# A. Preservation/Jurisdictional Considerations

Petitioner contends his sentence constitutes unusual punishment under the facts. He received two 2 sentences of 25 years, with 10 years minimums, to run consecutively. His current convictions were for nonviolent felonies. inherently attacks the habitual felon statute as applied. this claim was not raised before the trial court it is not preserved for review. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1129-30 (Fla. 1982) (constitutional application of statute to particular set of facts must first be raised in trial court); Knight v. State, 501 So.2d 150, 153-4 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (ex post facto and equal protection challenges to sentencing statute as applied to defendant improperly raised for first time on appeal).

Petitioner misleadingly characterizes his sentence as a single term of 50 years, obscuring the fact that he was convicted for two separate crimes.

Just because Petitioner's claim has state constitutional implications does not excuse his failure to preserve. Not every constitutional issue rises to fundamental error. Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1970); Randi v. State, 182 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (appellant's contention that rape statute authorized cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment not raised before, or passed upon, by trial court; therefore the issue could not be raised for the first time on appeal).

Predecessor counsel did not raise the preservation point before the First District, raising the possibility of waiver. See State v. Wells, 539 So.2d 464, 468 at n.4 (Fla. 1989) (state waived issue of defendant's standing to assert privacy interest car trunk and later searched, when found in luggage defendant's standing not raised at trial or on appeal), affirmed L.Ed.2d 1 (1990). However, Petitioner's attempt to 109 invalidate his sentence - not having objected on this ground below - is no more than sandbagging the trial court. Had Petitioner objected at trial, the court may very well have made his sentences concurrent, reducing his jail time by half. Whatever the state's transgression for not arguing lack of preservation before the First District, that transgression pales failure to give the trial court beside Petitioner's opportunity to avoid constitutional error. This Court must not

condone such defense tactics, and should decline to consider this issue on the merits.

Additionally, this issue is ancillary, and not necessary to resolution of the certified questions. See Ross, supra at \$368 (declining to reach several issues that were beyond the scope of the issue establishing jurisdiction); Trushin, supra at 1130 ("[W]e recognize the function of the district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority [to review "ancillary" issues] unless those affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified case.").

The State recognizes that this issue is closer to the issues typically appended certified question than the statute.3 inquiries regarding the habitual felon certified However, to determine whether petitioner's sentence is cruel or unusual - particularly the latter - it would be necessary to conduct an evidentiary hearing for comparison to the sentences received by other habitual, violent felons. Again, Petitioner should not have been able to raise this issue for the first time before the First District. See Forehand v. State, 537 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1989) (sentencing issue requiring a hearing to determine the nature of a Texas conviction could not be raised for the

The state respectfully suggests that the type of ancillary questions that should be reviewed are those going to the trial court's authority to proceed, such as subject matter jurisdiction.

first time on appeal, when alleged error did not result in an "illegal sentence or unauthorized departure from the sentencing guidelines"), quoting, State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1986).

Here, Petitioner's sentence is not facially illegal or an unauthorized departure. If it is cruel or unusual, that determination cannot be made from the record before this court. Absent comparison to the sentences received by similarly situated felons, Petitioner's complaint is no more than his personal disagreement with his sentence. This Court should decline review on the merits.

# B. Response on the Merits

#### 1. Introduction

Despite conscientious sampling of case law from other jurisdictions, and a cursory review of the predecessor Florida constitutions, Petitioner is unable to cite any decision by this Court holding that the phrase "cruel or unusual" punishment in the state constitution is substantively different from the phrase "cruel and unusual" punishment in the U.S. Constitution. Even if Tillman v. State, 591 So.2d 167, 169 n.2 (Fla. 1991) properly ascribes difference to the disjunctive "or", that case does not stand for the dispositive point that Petitioner ignores: the terms "cruel" or "unusual" do not invalidate his sentence.

To the contrary, long-standing precedent is squarely against Petitioner. In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 13 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1943), four years' imprisonment for possessing untaxed moonshine was upheld against a claim that the sentence violated section 8 of the Florida Constitution's Declaration of Rights. <u>Id</u>. at 460-1. That section provides:

bail, fines, etc.; punishment. -- Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines be imposed, punishment cruel orunusual allowed, indefinite imprisonment be nor shall witnesses be unreasonably detained. [e.s.]

Without much difficulty this Court rejected Brown's claim declaring:

'As a general rule, in cases where the objection is to the particular sentence, . . . a sentence which is within the limit fixed by statute is not cruel and unusual and is therefore valid, no matter how harsh and severe it may appear to be in a particular case, because the constitutional prohibition has reference to the statute fixing the punishment, and not to the punishment assessed. . . ' [e.s.]

Id. at 461, quoting, 15 Am.Jur. 174, §526.

Brown is very significant for several reasons. First and most obvious, it squarely rejects Petitioner's contention on the merits, while construing identical language from the 1885 Constitution. Second, it employs the phrase "cruel and unusual" without regard to the difference (i.e., use of "or") in the 1885 Constitution. This interchangeable use of the two words strongly

implies their lack of substantive difference. See Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380, 386 (Fla. 1928) ("Nor is the punishment prescribed by the statute a cruel or unusual punishment in the sense prohibited by the constitution." [e.s.]).

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